ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-002210

RECEIVED
NOV 17 2017
SC Court of Appeals
Appellant,

The State,

vs.

Jamie Lee Simpson,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-002210

The State,

Appellant,

vs.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The plea court erred in interpreting section 24-13-1530 of the South Carolina Code to allow a sentence of house arrest or home detention after Respondent was convicted of the violent crime of sexual exploitation of a minor second degree when the plain language of the statute makes clear it only applies to “low risk, nonviolent adult and juvenile offenders.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2016, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Respondent on four counts of sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree. (True-billed Indictments; R.54-61). He pled guilty on October 18, 2016, to all four counts. (T. 17; Sentencing Sheets; R.17; 62-65). At sentencing, Respondent's counsel asked that the two year mandatory sentence be served as house arrest or home detention. The State objected. (T.35-37; R.35-37). Over the State's objection, the Honorable Alison Renee Lee sentenced Respondent to four years, suspended upon the service of two years in home detention and an addition two years of probation. The court imposed restrictions on the home detention including Respondent being restricted to his residence with the exemption of work, medical treatment, which would include continued counseling, and was placed on electronic monitoring. Further, he was prohibited from having access or accessing a personal computer. Finally, he was required by statute to register as a sex offender. (T.46; R.46). The State again noted its objection. (T.48-49; R.48-49). The State timely filed its Notice of appeal and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the plea hearing, the State explained the nature of the charges. On February 19, 2014, Special Investigator, Lucinda McKellar, with the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, conducted an online proactive investigation using file sharing programs to identify individuals distributing child pornography. Investigator McKellar was able to download and receive five files of child pornography from a user identified through investigation as Respondent. The five files were all graphic videos of child pornography. The videos are of young children being forced to perform oral sex and being vaginally raped. One video includes a child approximately six years old being vaginally raped. She is crying and saying it hurts. (T.12; R.12).

During a second investigation in March 2014, Investigator McKellar was again able to download videos from Respondent. These videos contained children appearing to be as young as eight years of age being vaginally raped. (T.13; R.13).

After a search warrant was obtained and executed, several computers were seized. Respondent admitted to searching for and downloading child pornography via a file sharing network. He further admitted to using the search term of PTHC, which he stated meant pre-teen Hardcore. Child pornography or the remnants and artifacts of child pornography were found on several seized devices dating back to 2006. Additionally, other search terms were located related to child pornography including "rape" and "whore kids." (T.13-14; R.13-14).

Respondent admitted to the charges. When asked if there was anything he wished to add, change, or correct about the State's recitation of facts, he responded: "No ma'am." (T.16; R.16). He then admitted distributing the files and admitted the files contained minors engaged in sexual activity. (T.16; R.16).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The plea court erred in interpreting section 24-13-1530 of the South Carolina Code to allow a sentence of house arrest or home detention after Respondent was convicted of the violent crime of sexual exploitation of a minor second degree when the plain language of the statute makes clear it only applies to “low risk, nonviolent adult and juvenile offenders.”**

The circuit court erred in sentencing Respondent to two years house arrest as opposed to requiring incarceration. Section 24-13-1530 of the South Carolina Code does not apply to Respondent’s conviction because sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree is a violent crime and house arrest under section 24-13-1530 can only be given to “nonviolent adult offenders.” Accordingly, this Court should vacate Respondent’s sentence and remand for resentencing.

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain meaning of the statute and the intent of the legislature. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008). A statute’s language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Id. at 33, 667 S.E.2d at 733. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself. Id.

“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” Pittman, 373 S.C. at 561, 647 S.E.2d at 161. The statute must also be read as a whole and in harmony with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010). “The statute must be interpreted with realistic circumstances and rationales in mind.” State v. Elwell, 396 S.C. 330, 336, 721 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2011); State v. Baker, 310 S.C.

510, 512, 427 S.E.2d 670, 672 (1993) (“A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.”):

Section 24-13-1530 states in relevant part:

Notwithstanding another provision of law which requires mandatory incarceration, electronic and nonelectronic home detention programs may be used as an alternative to incarceration for **low risk, nonviolent** adult and juvenile offenders as selected by the court if there is a home detention program available in the jurisdiction.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-1530(A) (Supp. 2016) (emphasis added). Significantly, section 16-1-60 of the South Carolina Code clearly and expressly defines sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree as a **violent** offense.

The clear language of section 24-13-1530(A) indicates it applies only to “nonviolent” adults. Because of this clear, unambiguous language, there is no reason to “resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” See State v. Gordon, 414 S.C. 94, 98, 777 S.E.2d 376, 378 (2015). As the State argued at trial, “the home detention program is to be used as an alternative for **nonviolent** offenders,” and to allow a person convicted of a violent offense as defined by section 16-1-60 to be eligible for the alternative is clearly anathema to the legislative intent, and clear wording, of the statute. The only reasonable interpretation of section 24-13-1530 is in light of section 16-1-60 and to find the legislature clearly did not intend a person convicted of a “violent offense” to be considered a “nonviolent offender.”¹ Additionally, the legislature is presumed to know the current statutes and specifically wrote section 24-13-1530 to include the term “nonviolent offender” knowing that another of their statutes defined what crimes constituted “violent offenses.” See State v. McKnight, 352 S.C. 635, 648, 576

¹ The relevant provisions of Section 24-13-1530 do not appear to have been interpreted in any reported case in South Carolina. While it is unpublished and therefore not of precedential value, this Court recently addressed the issue in State v. Williams, Op. No. 2016-UP-448 (S.C.Ct. App. Filed November 2, 2016) (also found at 2016 WL 6471974 and Appellate Case No. 2014-001886).

S.E.2d 168, 175 (2003) (“There is a presumption that the legislature has knowledge of previous legislation . . . when later statutes are enacted concerning related subjects.”).

The plea court specifically noted the statute only applied to “nonviolent” offenders and that the charges he pled guilty to were defined as violent crimes by statute. The plea court even indicated it caused her concern as to whether the statute and home detention would be available to Respondent. (T.44-45; R.44-45). The court, not relying on any other interpretation of the statute or analysis of the legislative intent, instead determined: “[t]he best I can do is to try it.” The plea court then sentenced Respondent to house arrest for the mandatory two years. (T.45-46; R.45-46).

Additionally, section 16-15-405 states:

A person who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned not less than two years nor more than ten years. **No part of the minimum sentence may be suspended nor is the individual convicted eligible for parole until he has served the minimum sentence.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-405(D) (Supp. 2016) (emphasis added). It seems highly incongruous the legislature would consider the crime of sexual exploitation of a minor second degree so serious as to mandate the minimum sentence cannot be suspended and require no parole until after someone has served a minimum of two years but allow the individual to be on house arrest to serve that two year sentence. See State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (“Courts will reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.”); Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000) (same).

Finally, Respondent even if the term “violent **offense**” as used in section 16-1-60 is interpreted different from the way “nonviolent **offender**” is used in section 24-13-1530, the plea court erred in allowing Respondent to serve his sentence on house arrest. While Respondent’s crimes do not allege an actual touching by Respondent, the nature of the material sought out and viewed by Respondent indicates he is not a “nonviolent offender.” Using search terms such as pre-teen hardcore, rape, and “whore kids” indicates a desire to find violent and deviant child pornography. It is illogical that someone who enjoys and desires videos showing children screaming “It hurts” is a nonviolent offender. Further, the fact that he has evidence of child pornography on his computer spanning ten years certainly indicates he is not to be considered “low risk.”

Accordingly, the plea court erred in allowing Respondent to serve his two-year mandatory sentence on house arrest under section 24-13-1530. This Court should vacate the sentence and remand for resentencing consistent with the intent of the legislature.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the sentence of the circuit court allowing Respondent to serve his mandatory two-year incarceration for a violation of section 16-15-405—clearly defined as a violent offense under section 16-1-60—on house arrest pursuant to section 24-13-1530 should be vacated and this case remanded for resentencing.