RECEIVED
Mar 15 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-001075

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of
Thomas Griffin,

Appellant

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's motions for a competency evaluation because people subject to the SVPA do not have a due process or statutory right to be competent before SVPA proceedings can move forward. (Appellant's Issues I, II, III, and IV).

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a competency evaluation to determine if he was competent to be tried because: 1) counsel told the court he could not effectively represent him; 2) procedural due process required the requested evaluation because the SVPA constitutes a significant deprivation of his liberty interest, and his history indicated he could be successfully restored to competency; 3) the circuit court incorrectly applied §44-48-100(B); and 4) the circuit court erroneously ruled it could not overrule another circuit court judge because he had been found to be incompetent to stand trial in a previous criminal case, and his mental condition had deteriorated since the previous order was entered. While set forth in Appellant's Brief as four separate issues, all of the asserted errors are ultimately premised on a purported procedural due process violation.¹

A. SPVA, Competency and Procedural Due Process (Appellant's Issue II)

1. Statutory Interpretation

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is that the court ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." Odom v. Town of McBee Election Comm'n, 427 S.C. 305, 831 S.E.2d 429, 432 (2019) (*citing* Greene v. S.C. Election Comm'n, 314 S.C. 449, 445 S.E.2d 451, 453 [1994]). The court must first attempt to construe the plain language of the statute, and if the language of a statute is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, 'the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.' *Id.* (*quoting*

¹Appellant asserts procedural due process, but has not challenged the constitutionality of the SVPA itself, so the ultimate issue is statutory construction as applied.

Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 [2000]) (emphasis in original). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent.” Hodges, 533 S.E.2d at 581. The statute’s words must ‘be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation.’ Odom, 831 S.E.2s at 432 (quoting Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 642 S.E.2d 751, 754 [2007]); see also State v. Simpson, No. 2016-002210, 2020 WL 86625, at *4 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 8, 2020) (same).

The legislative intent must be gleaned from the entire statute rather than clauses taken out of context. Singletary v. S.C. Dep't of Educ., 316 S.C. 153, 447 S.E.2d 231, 236 (Ct. App. 1994). “The statute must be read as a whole, and sections that are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cty., 368 S.C. 388, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006). The court should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute, but read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose. *Id.* “In that vein, [the court] must read the statute so ‘that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous,’ for ‘[t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute] to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law.’” *Id.* (citation omitted) (alterations in original) (quoting State v. Sweat, 379 S.C. 367, 665 S.E.2d 645, 651, 654 [Ct. App. 2008]).

To ascertain the legislative intent to encompass mentally incompetent persons in the class of persons covered under the SVPA, the court need look no further than the express purpose of the statute. The Legislature found “that a mentally abnormal and extremely dangerous group of sexually violent predators exists,” “the likelihood these sexually violent predators will engage in repeated acts of sexual offenses if not treated for their mental conditions is significant,” and “the

existing civil commitment process is inadequate to address the special needs of sexually violent predators and the risks that they present to society.” S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-20 (2018). The SVPA defines “mental abnormality” as “a mental condition affecting a person’s emotional or volitional capacity that predisposes the person to commit sexually violent offenses.” S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-30(3) (2018). The increased danger to society posed by persons with mental abnormalities predisposing them to commit sexually violent offenses clearly encompasses persons whose relevant mental abnormalities render them incompetent to participate in the court proceedings.

This legislative intent is further evidenced by the express exclusion of the right not to be tried while incompetent in hearings required by §44-48-100(B). This section provides that when a person was found to be incompetent to stand trial on a sexually violent offense, the court must hold a hearing to determine whether the person committed the charged act or acts (“guilt/innocence hearing”), and all constitutional rights afforded a defendant at criminal trials apply to the hearing **“other than the right not to be tried while incompetent.”** S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-100(B) (2018) (emphasis added).² If competency is not required for a hearing to determine if the evidence indicates beyond a reasonable doubt that the person actually committed the charged offenses, it is disingenuous to argue the Legislature intended that competency be required for other SVPA proceedings, including a trial to determine if the person qualifies as a sexually violent predator. Holding otherwise would lead to SVPA proceedings pending indefinitely while the person is detained in a secure facility without “long term control, care and treatment,” or the release of

²The statute requires the court to make specific findings on “the extent to which the person’s incompetence . . . affected the outcome of the hearing, including its effect on the person’s ability to consult with and assist counsel and to testify on the person’s own behalf.” In this case, even though the trial was not a guilt/innocence hearing pursuant to 44-48-100(B), the court did note on the record counsel’s report he could not understand Appellant when Appellant tried to talk to him during the trial. (TT, p. 128; R., p 133).

potential sexually violent predators with virtually no supervision and no treatment. Either alternative is an absurd result, and undermines the ultimate goals of public safety, and “long term control, care and treatment” of sexually violent predators.

2. Procedural Due Process

It is now well established that sexual predator civil commitment proceedings are civil, not criminal, even if the applicable statute affords certain rights routinely recognized in criminal cases. Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997) (upholding the constitutionality of Kansas’ sexual predator civil commitment statute); In re Matthews, 345 S.C.638, 550 S.E.2d 311, 316-317 (2001) (SVPA proceedings are civil, not criminal, in nature); In re Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002) (same). As a result, procedures for establishing competence for criminal defendants do not apply, and the abatement requirements of criminal procedure do not apply. In re Sykes, 303 Kan. 820, 367 P.3d 1244, 1247 (2016).

The Kansas Supreme Court’s thorough, well-reasoned analysis of the interplay between sexually violent predator civil commitment proceedings and the person’s competency in Sykes is instructive. As in this case, Sykes contended the civil commitment proceedings violated his due process right to assist in his own defense. After again acknowledging the civil nature of sexual predator commitment proceedings, the court found there was no statutory requirement of competence in civil proceedings, and declined to create one, citing Hendricks and In re Hay, 263 Kan. 822, 953 P.2d 666 (1992) (specific protections provided by the sexual predator civil commitment statute satisfy procedural due process requirements). *Id.* at 1247-1248.

The court then reviewed the Washington Supreme Court’s analysis of due process and competency in civil commitment proceedings in In re Detention of Morgan, 180 Wash.2d 312, 330 P.3d 774 (2016), and concurred in the Washington court’s conclusion that the three part due

process requirements outlined in Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976), weighed in favor of allowing sexual predator proceedings to move forward if the person is incompetent to assist in his defense.³ *Id.* The court then noted seven other jurisdictions had reached the same conclusion on the issue. *Id.* (*citing* Moore v. Superior Court, 237 P.3d 530 (2010) (due process does not require mental competence of individual subject to commitment under Sexually Violent Predators Act); In re Commitment of Weekly, 956 N.E.2d 634, 647 (2011) (establishing that fitness evaluation does not affect ability to receive a fair commitment trial because of numerous procedural safeguards against erroneous deprivation of liberty); In re Det. of Cabbage, 671 N.W.2d 442, 448 (Iowa 2003) (lack of pretrial competence evaluation causes no deprivation of due process rights); Commonwealth v. Nieves, 446 Mass. 583, 846 N.E.2d 379 (2006) (“robust, adversary character” of commitment proceeding minimizes risk of erroneous commitment of person who is not sexually dangerous; due process is preserved through adversarial process); State ex rel. Nixon v. Kinder, 129 S.W.3d 5, 10 (Mo. App.2003) (SVP determination, regardless of competency of respondent, is not unconstitutional deprivation of liberty); In re Commitment of Fisher, 164 S.W.3d 637 (Tex. 2005) (difference between sexual predator commitment proceedings and conventional commitment proceedings does not make predator proceedings punitive; competency requirement for criminal proceedings is inapplicable to civil commitments); In re Commitment of Luttrell, 312 Wis.2d 695, 754 N.W.2d 249 (2008) (no right to competency evaluation before hearing on sexually violent person status; commitment is for treatment, not punishment, and due process concerns are remote)).

The court expressed concerns regarding the alternatives if competency was required in sexual predator civil commitment proceedings, which are the same concerns outlined above. The

³The Mathews three part test is discussed below in relation to this case.

first alternative was to release the person from the State's control until such time as he may become competent to stand trial, which releases an individual with violent tendencies into society. The second alternative was to commit him for treatment as a mentally ill person subject to involuntary commitment under regular civil commitment laws, which would provide care and treatment for the mental illness, but the person is still institutionalized without being competent to represent himself at a commitment hearing, even if under a different statutory provision than the sexually violent predator statute. Addressing the contention that the sexually violent treatment would not sufficiently address other mental disorders, the court concluded:

[T]he State is not required to choose between attacking every aspect of a public danger or not attacking any part of the danger at all. The legislature is free to recognize degrees of harm, and it may address restrictions to those cases where it deems the need to be most clear. In this instance, the State has chosen treatment of the sexual predatory mental defect as having a priority over Schizophrenia or other mental disorders.

Id. at 1248 (internal citation omitted).

This case presents a prime example of why competency is not required in SVPA proceedings. Appellant acknowledged to Dr. Gehle he is better when he takes the prescribed medication for his Schizophrenia, which is the primary source of his incompetency. While he contends he was not receiving medication after he was transferred from the Department of Corrections, where he was on medication and competent, to the Horry County Detention Center, the records reveal the medication **was** initially prescribed at the Detention Center, but Appellant would not take it consistently, and the prescription was eventually discontinued because Appellant **refused to take the medication**. (TT, pp. 102-103; R., 107-108). Given his long history and experience with the effect of not taking the prescribed medication, as well as his statements about his medical history to Dr. Gehle during the interview, Appellant knew his condition would

deteriorate if he stopped taking the medication.⁴ In short, any issue regarding Appellant's competency at the time of trial was an issue created by Appellant's own conduct in refusing to take prescribed medication he knew made his condition better.

Further, if Appellant received a competency examination and was declared incompetent, he would receive medical treatment designed to address his incompetency, with no sex offender treatment even offered. Once Appellant's competency was "restored," he would return to, and remain in, the Detention Center with no treatment (except prescribed anti-psychotic medication which he could refuse to take) until a new SVPA trial could be scheduled. Assuming Appellant took the prescribed medication, after the case was scheduled for trial, he could stop taking the medication, as he did in January 2018 after the case was first scheduled for trial, and once again decompensate, thus starting the vicious cycle over again. Such a result would be absurd, and completely undermine the purpose of the SVPA.

3. Mathews Three Part Test

Appellant argues the circuit court erred in finding his procedural due process rights were not violated when he was subjected to "what essentially amounted to (sic) quasi-criminal trial, complete with a 'verdict' beyond a reasonable doubt, while he was incompetent and unable to meaningfully participate in his defense." (Brief of Appellant, p. 19). While facially acknowledging the difference between SVPA proceedings and criminal proceedings, Appellant ultimately ignores that difference, instead relying on criminal due process case law and conclusory statements rather than true analysis.

⁴The Detention Center could not force medicate Appellant absent a court order to do so, which was never even requested between February 2018 and October 2018.

Appellant cites the factors identified in Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976), as the benchmarks for determining whether procedural protection is warranted.⁵ Those factors include: 1) the private interest affected by the official action; 2) the risk of an erroneous deprivation of that interest through the procedures used, and the probative value, if any, of additional safeguards; and 3) the government interest, including the function involved, as well as the fiscal and administrative burdens additional or substitute procedural requirements would entail. *Id.* at 334-335. In essence, he summarily concludes all these factors weigh in his favor, with his ultimate conclusion being the only due process procedure that will meet constitutional muster is to require all people subject to the SVPA be competent to stand trial. Again, Appellant asks this Court to ignore relevant case law, and write out entire sections of the SVPA, which it cannot do.

Procedural due process requires notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard. Mathews, 424 U.S. at 333. What process is due depends on what is fair in a particular context. *Id.* at 334; *see also* Morgan, 330 P.3d at 779 (same); Weekly, 956 N.E.2d at 644-645 (same); Moore v. Superior Court, 237 P.3d 530, 539 (Cal. 2010) (balancing test required to determine what process is due to a potential civil committee); Commonwealth v. Burgess, 878 N.E.2d 921, 928 (Mass. 2008) (deprivation of liberty interest must be balanced against governmental interest in protecting citizens); Commonwealth v. Nieves, 846 N.E.2d 379 (Mass. 2006) (same). Contrary to Appellant's conclusory assertion the Mathews three part test weighs in his favor, the procedural due process afforded to Appellant under the SVPA, combined with the State's compelling public safety interest, weighs in favor of the State.

⁵As discussed above, the Washington Supreme Court and the Kansas Supreme Court have analyzed the Mathews three part test in relation to sexual predator civil commitment statutes, and held the statutes do not violate procedural due process. South Carolina's SVPA was premised on the Kansas sexual predator statute.

a. Liberty Interest

The State does not dispute civil commitment under the SVPA affects a significant liberty interest. The liberty interest must be considered in context, including the purpose of the interest deprivation, which is public safety and long term control, care and treatment under the SVPA.

Contrary to Appellant's repeated attempts to conflate the SVPA with a criminal proceeding, South Carolina courts have conclusively determined a SVPA proceeding is civil, not criminal, and is aimed at treatment rather than punishment. See Matthews, 550 S.E.2d at 315-317. While Appellant's liberty will be significantly impacted by civil commitment, he will not just be confined as he would with a criminal sentence, or even housed in a mental health facility where he will receive treatment only for his Schizophrenia in hopes of restoring him to competency. Rather, he will be housed in a separate, secure facility, where he will receive appropriate medical and psychological treatment, including medications as needed, to address both his paraphilic and schizophrenic disorders, throughout his commitment.⁶

b. Risk of Erroneous Liberty Deprivation

Assuming for argument only that the liberty factor, standing alone, weighs in Appellant's favor, his remaining analysis is fundamentally flawed. His overriding premise regarding the risk of erroneous liberty deprivation is his incompetency.⁷ Again, Appellant conflates the requirement of competency in a criminal trial with a SVPA civil commitment trial.

⁶The fact that the SVPA treatment program is not a "forensic" mental health hospital does not negate the fact it provides appropriate medical and mental health treatment. Further, the appropriateness of the treatment provided can be addressed in the statutorily required annual reviews of the committee's mental health status.

⁷The State does not dispute Appellant's Schizophrenia diagnosis impacts his mental incompetency, even when he takes his prescribed medication. The question of Appellant's mental competency is not the issue; rather, the issue is whether the SVPA proceedings can move forward even assuming he is mentally incompetent.

As discussed above other jurisdictions analyzing the issue of mental incompetency in sexual predator proceedings based on statutes similar to the SVPA have determined the risk of an erroneous deprivation of liberty is minimal in light of the numerous procedural safeguards and heightened burden of proof in sexual predator cases. See Morgan, 330 P.3d at 779 (the robust statutory guaranties provide substantial protection against an erroneous deprivation of liberty); Weekly, 956 N.E.2d at 645 (procedural safeguards of the sexual predator act ensure the risk of erroneous deprivation of liberty is slight); Moore, 237 P.3d at 543-544 (same); Burgess, 878 N.E.2d at 929 (same). The procedural safeguards identified in those cases include: 1) assistance of counsel (at public expense when appropriate); 2) ability to retain experts (at public expense when appropriate); 3) use of process to compel attendance of witnesses; 4) cross-examination of adverse witnesses; 5) right to appeal final determination; 6) right to have hearing conducted according to the rules of evidence; and 8) determination of whether the person meets the criteria for civil commitment under the SVPA is beyond a reasonable doubt. Burgess at 929.

The SVPA contains all the procedural safeguards identified by other jurisdictions as sufficient to afford the mentally incompetent person appropriate due process. In addition to the numerous levels of review prior to the commitment trial, the person has; 1) the right to counsel; 2) the right to present evidence; 3) the right to cross-examine witnesses; 4) the right to retain experts; 5) the right to have the rules of evidence apply; and 6) the right to have the civil commitment determination made beyond a reasonable doubt. S.C. Code §§44-48-50, -60, -70, -80, -90, and -100(A). Contrary to Appellant's assertion this factor weighs in his favor, these safeguards make the risk of an erroneous deprivation of liberty under the SVPA minimal, and the factor weighs in the State's favor.

c. Governmental Interest

It cannot be disputed the State has a compelling interest in protecting society from sexual predators, which is the over-arching purpose of the SVPA. The effectiveness, or even availability, of treatment is not relevant if a goal of a sexual predator statute is to provide treatment. Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 365; *see also* Nieves, 846 N.E.2d at 387 (commitment to protect the public under a sexually violent predator statute is not improper even where no effective treatment exists to remedy the person's infirmity).

Even if Appellant's mental status prevented his actual participation in trial preparation and trial, the State's interest in protecting the public from sexual predators is paramount to his liberty interest. Experts and counsel can review Appellant's history, arrest records, previous mental health evaluations and treatment records, and interview him to the extent possible, in order to reach conclusions regarding his mental diagnosis and risk to reoffend sexually, and how to handle such issues at trial. *See* Moore, 237 P.3d at 543 (nature of issues, evidence and findings in sexual predator proceeding prevents person from playing much more than a supporting role; any chance the person's mental incompetence would significantly impair his contribution to his defense is relatively attenuated). Requiring competency before a SVPA case can proceed undermines the clear legislative intent of the SVPA.

The SVPA contains unambiguous statutory language expressing the legislative intent that commitment proceedings go forward against an incompetent person, even if the person may have limited comprehension of the proceedings. S.C. Code §44-48-100(B) (person deemed incompetent and not likely to become competent does not have right to be competent at a guilt/innocence hearing); *see also* Burgess, 878 N.E.2d at 927 (same). Requiring competency before a SVPA case can move forward effectively writes §44-48-30(6)(c) and §44-48-100(B) out

of the statute, which flies in the face of well-established rules of statutory construction. *See Buscemi* (court must avoid interpretation that effectively reads a provision out of the statute).

Taken to its logical conclusion, Appellant's contention would substantially impair the State's substantial interest in protecting the public if an alleged sexual predator can claim he is too incompetent to undergo a sexual predator trial because of his mental disorder. There may well be significant overlaps between mental disorders qualifying someone for commitment as a sexual predator, and those rendering the person unable to comprehend the proceedings or assist in his defense. *See Moore*, 237 P.3d at 544 (potential overlap exists between sexual predator type mental disorders and those making the person incompetent). As discussed above, requiring competency restoration before a sexual predator trial can proceed could indefinitely, or permanently, delay sexual predator proceedings, which weighs "heavily, and in fact dispositively, against recognition of a due process right of this kind." *Id. See also, Morgan*, 330 P.3d at 779 (recognizing negative impact of requiring competency in sexual predator proceedings); *Sykes*, 367 P.3d at 1247-48 (same).

B. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (Appellant's Issue I)

Appellant makes repeated references to the right to effective assistance of counsel in SVPA proceedings as recognized in *Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C.172, 796 S.E.2d 843 (2017). *Chapman* held the SVPA's general statutory right to counsel encompassed the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, and a person committed pursuant to the SVPA could raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims via a common law petition for habeas relief. *Id.* at 846-847.

Chapman also held, however, that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel could not be raised on direct appeal. *Id.* at 848 (merits of ineffective assistance of SVPA counsel will not be addressed on direct appeal because such claims may be raised in a habeas proceeding).

Appellant now seeks to expand Chapman to apply in a direct appeal if counsel merely tells the trial court he cannot effectively represent his client for some reason. Chapman does not stand for this proposition, and expanding its scope will result in the very thing the Supreme Court sought to avoid – addressing the merits of ineffective assistance of counsel claims in direct appeals from civil commitments pursuant to the SVPA.⁸ Therefore, Appellant’s claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is not properly presented in this direct appeal.

Even if the Court considers the ineffective assistance of counsel allegations, a review of the trial record reveals Appellant’s counsel was very effective in vigorously protecting Appellant’s interests. In his brief to this Court, Appellant refers to trial counsel as a seasoned, well experienced trial attorney, and it must be presumed he acted as such in the proceeding. In addition to repeatedly raising the competency issue at every opportunity, including in closing argument, he aggressively cross-examined the State’s expert regarding the basis for her diagnoses and conclusions, and made a thorough and impassioned closing argument, which included reference to his inability to call Appellant as a witness. Thus, trial counsel acted exactly how a seasoned, experienced trial attorney would be expected to act under the circumstances, and his actions cannot be considered ineffective for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

Finally, trial counsel claimed he could only win the case if Appellant was able to testify on his own behalf about his offenses, particularly the North Carolina pending charge, and the inability to call Appellant as a witness rendered counsel’s representation ineffective.⁹ This contention

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